



The impact of COVID-19 on Londoners' mental health and wellbeing:

What are the risks to Londoners' mental health and wellbeing in the short and medium term?

What can we do to offset the effects?











О́Х

V13.3 (18 March 2021)

# Contents

Context	4
Scope, methodology and limitations	5
Overview	6
Impact on disproportionately at-risk groups	8
Black, Asian and minority ethnic Londoners (BAME)	8
Deaf and disabled Londoners	9
Families with children and single parents	10
LGBTQ+ Londoners	10
Older Londoners	11
People with pre-existing mental health problems	12
Asylum seekers	13
Women	13
Young Londoners	14
Population mental health	16
Resilience	16
Life satisfaction and happiness	17
Self-reported anxiety and depression	18
Suicide	19
Direct impacts of COVID-19	20
Recovery from the virus	20
Bereavement	21
Vaccination	22
Digital Exclusion	24
Financial impact	25
Overview	25
Financial resilience	
Employment and job security	27
Loans and borrowing money	
Wellbeing economics	29
Future trends and forecasting	31
National lockdown	31
Impact on London businesses and trade	33
Impact of debt	33

Predicting who will get long-COVID	33
Forecasting	
Anxiety & depression	
Children & young people	35
Health & social care workers	35
People recovering from severe COVID	35
Bereavement	35
Suggested actions	
Research and Community Insights	
Communications	
Advancing equality	
Resilience	
Enhanced support	
Thrive LDN's response	39
Coordination	
Research, community insights and development	
Communications and campaigns	
Young Londoners and parents	
Right to Thrive	
Resilience	40
Enhanced support for disproportionately at-risk groups	40
Suicide Prevention	40





# Context

<u>Thrive LDN</u> is a citywide movement to ensure all Londoners have an equal opportunity to good mental health and wellbeing. We are supported by the Mayor of London and London Health Board partners.

Since March 2020, we have also been coordinating the public mental health response to the coronavirus pandemic on behalf of Public Health England London, the Strategic Coordination Group and wider partners, with the aim of ensuring London's diverse communities have the strength and resilience to cope with and overcome unprecedented events.

As part of our role, we produce regular working papers summarising the known impact of COVID-19 on Londoners' mental health and wellbeing, implications for response and recovery planning, and suggested actions we take – locally, sub-regionally and regionally – to address immediate and anticipated future needs.

This work includes extensive community engagement and participatory action research with communities that are disproportionately at risk of poor outcomes in order to improve the representativeness and granularity of available information. To date, Thrive LDN has engaged with over 200 community groups and organisations and listened to over 10,000 Londoners with a view to understanding more about the experiences of 20 disproportionately at-risk communities. Whist this work is ongoing, an initial summary of findings and suggested actions can be found <u>here</u>.

Comments and feedback are welcome and encouraged. If you would like to get in touch about this work please contact Helen Daly (<u>helen.daly4@nhs.net</u>), Thrive LDN Research and Evaluation Lead, and/ or Dan Barrett (<u>d.barrett@nhs.net</u>), Thrive LDN Director.

# Scope, methodology and limitations

### Scope

The scope for this work is common mental health problems and the wider public mental health and wellbeing of Londoners. The work has a focus on advancing equality and reducing inequalities in the overall health and wellbeing of Londoners.

### Methodology

The methodology is based on the pragmatic review of research and triangulation of multiple sources of relevant evidence relating to the COVID-19 pandemic, including population mental health data, analysis of the UK society and economy, and insights collected as part of Thrive LDN's ongoing community engagement activities.

This rich and diverse range of information is methodologically varied and spans across different contexts and sample sizes, which in turn makes drawing comparisons and overall synthesis challenging. To ensure a level of rigour and reliable interpretation of the evidence, regular challenge sessions are held within the core team working on this, as well as with wider team members and partners, in order to test interpretation of data and assumptions made.

### Limitations

Fundamentally, insights are limited by the availability of data and information. There will undoubtedly be data and information sources the team are unaware of and would appreciate being made aware of.

However, overall, representativeness and inclusiveness has been identified as a limitation across all sources of data and information, with a lack of sufficient, granular intelligence available on the experiences and needs of different disadvantaged and marginalised communities in London.

The data and intelligence has been collated to inform the initial public mental health response to COVID-19. For many factors, it is still too soon to draw any definitive conclusions about possible shifts in mental health and wellbeing since the beginnings of the pandemic.

# **Overview**

The COVID-19 pandemic has created economic, health and social uncertainty and insecurity across the world. The new COVID-19 variant in London, rise in COVID-19 cases and deaths, and return to national lockdown restriction measures are a reminder of the unpredictability of this crisis.

It is currently not possible to determine the full impact on mental health and need for mental health services, but it is clear the effects are multifaceted. The uncertain nature of the virus and the restrictions in place impede on our natural and usual resources for wellbeing, as well as on our coping mechanisms and opportunities for social interaction. Data, research and insights collected have shown the detrimental direct effect COVID-19 is having on depression, anxiety, happiness, life satisfaction and loneliness levels across London, as well as the indirect effect on the factors which influence mental health and wellbeing, such as employment and income.

As the pandemic continues, it is necessary to recognise that the nuances of how uncertainty surrounding COVID-19 and the restrictions in place affect Londoners' mental health and wellbeing in a way that is not necessarily straightforward or always obvious. In some cases, feelings of anxiety and sadness are entirely normal reactions to difficult circumstances, not symptoms of poor mental health and we need to be careful not to over-pathologise the natural process of how people are adapting to and coping with change.

However, existing inequalities have been exacerbated, leaving those who entered the pandemic vulnerable as a result of their socio-economic background and health status facing the most severe impacts. As the pandemic continues to evolve, its effects become more nuanced and the needs of Londoners become more pronounced and complex. This results in the requirement for a multi-agency approach that ensures that all Londoners who need help and support receive it.

There is clear evidence that the impact of COVID-19 has replicated and exacerbated inequality. Following a substantial period of rising case rates in London, leading to an increase in hospital admissions and deaths, it is important to reflect on what we have learned from the first months of the pandemic and about the effects of COVID-19 on health inequalities and what can be done to mitigate them.

Health inequalities are systematic, avoidable and unjust differences in health and wellbeing between different groups of people. They arise because of the conditions in which we are born, grow, live, work and age, which influence our opportunities for good health and how we think, feel and act. These conditions shape our mental health, physical health and wellbeing. They also influence our exposure and vulnerability to SARS-CoV-2 infection, our ability to manage the consequences of the disease, and how the control measures affect us.

Substantial inequalities exist across protected characteristics and socioeconomic position in relation to the impacts of the coronavirus pandemic in London. This is both in terms of risk of COVID-19 infection, complications and mortality, and in terms of the negative economic, social and psychological consequences of Government policies to mitigate the health impacts of the pandemic. These COVID-19 related inequalities have been caused by processes of marginalisation and oppression, which before the pandemic had led to well-documented social and health inequalities, inequalities that have been exacerbated during the coronavirus pandemic.

It is also important to acknowledge that years of structural racism and inequality has compounded mistrust, suspicion and fear between marginalised communities and power structures, creating a significant barrier for recovery. Unfair outcomes for population mental health as a result of the COVID-19 crises include: a greater deterioration in their mental health for BAME men, reports of disabled people feeling failed and ignored by the government and single parents having higher levels of stress, depression, and anxiety.

Findings from the community indicate that for many communities across London, the coronavirus pandemic is seen as the latest crisis event in a crisis trend – a steadily worsening series of situations faced by disadvantaged communities across London. This is both a cause and consequence of poor mental health, felt both directly and indirectly.

# Impact on disproportionately at-risk groups

Many Londoners entered the pandemic from positions of disadvantage and there is convincing evidence that the pandemic seems to have simultaneously created new inequalities whilst widening pre-existing inequalities<sup>1</sup>, both in terms of COVID-19 complications and deaths and in terms of the impact of the restrictions on mental health and wellbeing. Londoners with lived experiences of marginalisation and social disadvantage, who were already experiencing poorer social, economic and health outcomes, have been disproportionally affected by the pandemic.

People with the poorest mental health prior to the pandemic experienced the largest deterioration in mental health during the initial lockdown<sup>2</sup> and are likely to be isolated and lacking support as restrictions continue to be put in place and the full effects of the pandemic are felt.

# Black, Asian and minority ethnic Londoners (BAME)

Following the release of the Public Health England (PHE) review on disparities in the risk and outcomes of COVID-19 in June 2020<sup>3</sup>, and the most recent data on the impact of the second wave of COVID-19 on Londoners, surveillance data<sup>4</sup> shows that:

- People from Black ethnic groups were most likely to be diagnosed.
- Death rates were highest among people from Black and Asian ethnic groups.
- Accounting for the effect of sex, age, deprivation and region, people of Bangladeshi ethnicity had around twice the risk of death than people of White British ethnicity.
- People of Chinese, Indian, Pakistani, Other Asian, Caribbean, and Other Black ethnicity had between 10 and 50% higher risk of death when compared to White British people.

<sup>4</sup> The Association of Directors of Public Health London Network (2020) Policy position: Supporting Black, Asian and minority ethnic communities during and beyond the COVID-19 pandemic: <u>https://adph.org.uk/networks/london/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/ADPH-London-Position-statement-</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Institute for Fiscal Studies (2020) The mental health effects of the first two months of lockdown and social distancing during the Covid-19 pandemic in the UK: <u>https://www.ifs.org.uk/publications/14874</u>

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Institute for Fiscal Studies (2020) The mental health effects of the first two months of lockdown and social distancing during the Covid-19 pandemic in the UK: <u>https://www.ifs.org.uk/publications/14874</u>
<sup>3</sup> Public Health England (2020) Disparities in the risk and outcomes of COVID-19:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/908434/ Disparities\_in\_the\_risk\_and\_outcomes\_of\_COVID\_August\_2020\_update.pdf

Evidence from community engagement activities<sup>5</sup> has, in particular, highlighted the distress of Black Londoners in response to the high proportion of people in their communities who have died as a result of COVID-19. Communities have been coping with unusually high levels of grief alongside the added financial pressures and familial pressures of the crisis.

Research from UK Household Longitudinal Study suggests that BAME men experienced a far greater deterioration in their mental health during the first Covid-19 lockdown than their white British counterparts, with BAME men reporting a deterioration of about 14% in their mental health from 2017-2019 to April 2020 compared to 6.5% for white British males.6 A similar pattern was not seen in women's declining mental health.

The COVID-19 Social Study<sup>7</sup> have seen people from ethnic minority backgrounds consistently show higher levels of anxiety and depression throughout the pandemic in comparison to their white counterparts. Recent findings from this research have also shown a rise in self-reported thoughts of death or self-harm (PHQ-9 measure) amongst individuals in minority ethnic groups and are at their highest since the start of the first lockdown.

### **Deaf and disabled Londoners**

The pandemic has amplified the long-standing structural inequalities and discrimination that deaf and disabled people experience. These disparities are reflected in the data released by the Office for National Statistics from 24 January to 20 November 2020 showing that the risk of death involving COVID-19 for men was 3.1 times greater for those more-disabled and 1.9 times greater for those less-disabled men when compared with non-disabled men; and for women, the risk of death was 3.5 times greater for those more-disabled and 2.0 times greater for those less-disabled women when compared with non-disabled and 2.0 times greater for those

Disabled people have reported feeling failed and ignored by the government, a sentiment which is epitomised by the Coronavirus Act that minimised and infringed on the rights of disabled people, re-classifying them as 'vulnerable' and therefore lessening the legislative support and the need for adjustments<sup>9</sup>. The increased risk

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Thrive LDN (2020) Thrive Together: A summary of recent experiences and ideas to support the wellbeing and resilience of all Londoners: <u>https://thriveldn.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Thrive-Together-report.pdf</u> <sup>6</sup> Proto E, Quintana-Domeque C (2021) COVID-19 and mental health deterioration by ethnicity and gender in the UK. PLoS ONE 16(1): e0244419: <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0244419</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> University College London (2021) Covid-19 Social Study: <u>https://www.covidsocialstudy.org/results</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Office for National Statistics (ONS) (2020) Coronavirus (COVID-19) related deaths by disability status, England and Wales: 24 January to 20 November 2020:

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/articles/coronaviruscovid19relateddeathsbydisabilitystatusenglandandwales/24januaryto20november2020

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Proto E, Quintana-Domeque C (2021) COVID-19 and mental health deterioration by ethnicity and gender in the UK. PLoS ONE 16(1): e0244419: <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0244419</u>

for disabled people results in part from their poorer living circumstances and socioeconomic position, associated co-morbidities and vulnerability to ill-health, and increased risks from living in residential facilities. The pandemic has also increased stress and uncertainty for carers, who face increased worry around their financial situation as spending on food and bills increases as a result of lockdowns.

### Families with children and single parents

Parents are coping with huge additional demands on their time as they are forced to care for and educate their children from home, and poorer families have been receiving less support from schools in doing so. Evidence shows that parents in better-off families and with higher levels of education are more likely to be able to carry out their work activities from their home, more likely to have space at home to educate their children, and more likely to have savings to cover unforeseen expenditures.<sup>10</sup>

Findings from the Co-Space study following 8,386 parents/carers has shown parental stress and depression was elevated during the first lockdown, when most children were home-schooled, reduced when the lockdown restrictions eased in the summer, but increased again between November and December, when new national restrictions were introduced. The most recent data indicates that levels of stress, anxiety and depression amongst parents and carers have now surpassed the record high levels they reached in the first lockdown.<sup>11</sup> Parents/carers from single adult households and low-income families, as well as those who have children with SEN/ND, have reported higher levels of stress, depression, and anxiety reported. On average, 43% were stressed about their children's education and future (in contrast to 32% of those with young children).<sup>12</sup>

Mothers, and particularly single mothers, have been more likely to work in sectors that have been shut down as a result of the pandemic. Prior to the pandemic, 47% of children in single parent families were living in poverty compared to 24% in coupled families.<sup>13</sup>

# LGBTQ+ Londoners

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Institute for Fiscal Studies (2020) Learning during the lockdown: real-time data on children's experiences during home learning: <u>https://www.ifs.org.uk/publications/14848</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Co-SPACE (2021) Changes in children and parents' mental health: March 2020 to February 2021

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Co-SPACE (2021) Changes in parents' mental health symptoms and stressors from April to December 2020: http://cospaceoxford.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/Report 07 19JAN.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Gingerbread (2020) Tackling single parent poverty after the Coronavirus: <u>https://www.gingerbread.org.uk/policy-campaigns/publications-index/tackling-single-parent-poverty-after-coronavirus/</u>

Early findings from the Queerantine Study<sup>14</sup> has shown high levels of stress and depressive symptoms, particularly among younger transgender and gender diverse respondents. Stress has been higher for those who had experienced an instance of homophobic or transphobic harassment, compared to respondents who had not. Furthermore, there are high levels of depressive symptomatology (61%) and perceived stress among the LGBTQ+ community living in London. The prevalence of poor mental health is lower among the LGBTQ+ community living in London, compared to those living in the rest of the UK.

LGBTQ+ people experience a disproportionately high rate of domestic violence in comparison to the general population, are more likely to experience homelessness or live in unstable living conditions, and report higher rates of loneliness and feelings of social isolation<sup>15</sup>, thus the COVID-19 pandemic and its associated restrictions on society have exacerbated some of the most common threats to the overall wellbeing of this group.

Insights from community engagement with LGBTQ+ organisations who support young people have reported worsening mental health in particular for this group relating to the breakdown of community and support systems, hostile living arrangements or experiences of homophobia or transphobia. Transgender and nonbinary people reported a decline in mental wellbeing due to being repeatedly misgendered when living with relatives, or due to the cancellation of gender confirmation surgery as a result of additional pressures on the NHS which would likely delay their transition for many months to years.<sup>16</sup> All these factors have contributed to additional feelings of anxiety, depression, isolation and hopelessness in young LGBTQ+ Londoners.

### **Older Londoners**

Older people have been more likely to be clinically shielding and experience long periods of isolation, leading to widespread concern for this group as social isolation among older people is already a well-recognised and serious public health issue.

The pandemic poses a serious risk for creating a long-term unemployment crisis for older workers, with most people aged 50-70 still working for their individual financial security. London has the highest proportion of older workers, and many who are still in employment and renting privately expressed concerns of redundancies, furloughs,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> University College London (2020) Queerantine Study: <u>https://queerantinestudy.wixsite.com/mysite</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> LGBT Foundation (2020) Why LGBT+ people are disproportionately impacted by coronavirus:

https://lgbt.foundation/coronavirus/why-lgbt-people-are-disproportionately-impacted-by-coronavirus <sup>16</sup> The Guardian (2020) 'I had to hide myself again': young LGBT people on their life in U.K. lockdown:

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/aug/05/i-had-to-hide-myself-again-young-lgbt-people-on-their-life-in-uk-lockdown

and reduced working hours. According to analysis conducted by the Centre for Ageing Better,<sup>17</sup> one in four older workers – 2.5 million in total – have been furloughed, and hundreds of thousands of these workers may be unable to return to their previous jobs as some sectors struggle to recover.

### People with pre-existing mental health problems

The Mental Health in the Pandemic study<sup>18</sup> has found that people who entered the pandemic with a prior experience of mental health problems have been far more likely to experience feelings of anxiety, panic, and hopelessness. Analysis from the U.S has also found that COVID-19 survivors have significantly higher rates of psychiatric diagnoses and psychiatric history is a potential risk factor for being diagnosed with COVID-19, independent of known physical risk factors.<sup>19</sup>

Those with a pre-existing mental health problem have been the most likely to experience stress and inability to cope during the pandemic, and this group has also reported suicidal thoughts and feelings at a rate almost triple to that of the general population. <sup>20</sup> During lockdown, many of the support systems for people with mental health problems, such as one-to-one therapy, training courses, volunteering and supported employment opportunities, were curtailed or stopped. In particular, peer support and community resources that relied on meeting in a physical space have had to adapt or pause their provision, resulting in the loss of or reduction in support groups that are essential to deliver in person to continue with up to 15 participants, which provides some hope for those who benefit from them.

The COVID-19 Social Study<sup>21</sup> has found that since the restrictions began, people with a diagnosed mental health condition have been more likely to be depressed, anxious, worried, have suicidal thoughts or self-harm than those without a mental health diagnosis, even when restrictions eased in 2020. Research produced by the Samaritans based on conversations with callers reporting mental health concerns has shown that restrictions are exacerbating existing mental health conditions, access to mental health services has been disrupted and limited access to usual coping strategies such as support from friends, family or local community groups and

- https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanpsy/article/PIIS2215-0366(20)30462-4/fulltext <sup>20</sup> Mental Health Foundation (2020) Coronavirus: Mental Health in the Pandemic:
- https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/our-work/research/coronavirus-mental-health-pandemic/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Centre for Ageing Better (2020) A mid-life employment crisis: how COVID-19 will affect the job prospects of older workers: <u>https://www.ageing-better.org.uk/publications/mid-life-employment-crisis-how-covid-19-will-affect-job-prospects-older</u>

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Mental Health Foundation (2020) Coronavirus: Mental Health in the Pandemic: <u>https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/our-work/research/coronavirus-mental-health-pandemic/</u>
<sup>19</sup> The Lancet (2020) Bidirectional associations between COVID-19 and psychiatric disorder: retrospective cohort studies of 62354 COVID-19 cases in the USA:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> University College London (2020) Covid-19 Social Study: <u>https://www.covidsocialstudy.org/results</u>

personal hobbies has been negatively affecting how callers usually handle their mental health conditions.<sup>22</sup>

# Asylum seekers

There are currently 6,200 people housed in emergency hotel accommodation across 22 boroughs in London, with some individuals and families accommodated in this way for up to 9 months.

Conditions are cramped, residents have little to no finances/independence (accommodation is full board), limited to no access to the internet or means of communicating with a support network, high prevalence of trauma, limited/disrupted access to health services, high levels of anxiety regarding the outcome of their asylum application - and no foreseeable end point. Healthcare professionals and NGOs have raised serious concerns that the mental health needs of these residents are not being met and the risk of mental health deterioration and crisis is high.

### Women

Evidence is growing of the unequal impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, lockdown and related crises based on gender. The Coronavirus: Mental Health in the Pandemic study,<sup>23</sup> found that across the lifetime of the survey women have been more likely than men to report feeling anxious, lonely, and hopeless due to the pandemic, as well as being more worried about finances.

Gendered impacts on employment and income can already be seen, with mothers having been more likely to have quit or lost their job, or to have been furloughed since March 2020.<sup>24</sup> In addition, women are more likely to be in temporary, part-time and precarious employment than men.<sup>25</sup> These jobs often come with lower pay, weaker legal protection and difficulties in accessing social protection. Levels of precarious work are particularly high among young women, women with low qualifications and migrant women.

There has been a documented rise in domestic abuse and gender-based violence, as often seen in times of crisis and natural disasters. As normal life shuts down, victims – who are usually women – can be exposed to abusers for long periods of time and cut off from social and institutional support. Calls to the National Domestic

- <sup>22</sup> Samaritans (2020) Coronavirus and people with pre-existing mental health conditions: <u>https://www.samaritans.org/ireland/about-samaritans/research-policy/understanding-our-callers-during-covid-19-pandemic/coronavirus-and-people-pre-existing-mental-health-conditions/</u>
- <sup>23</sup> Mental Health Foundation (2020) Coronavirus: Mental Health in the Pandemic:
- https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/our-work/research/coronavirus-mental-health-pandemic/
- <sup>24</sup> Institute for Fiscal Studies (2020) Parents, especially mothers, paying heavy price for lockdown: <u>https://www.ifs.org.uk/publications/14861</u>

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/228172883 Gender Differences in Precarious Work Settings

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Young M (2010) Gender Differences in Precarious Work Settings:

Abuse Helpline increased by 150% during lockdown.<sup>26</sup> Between further lockdown easing in July and the start of September, levels of domestic abuse referrals to Victims Support remained around one quarter higher than average.<sup>27</sup>

# Young Londoners

It is widely acknowledged that the impact of COVID-19 on the lives of children and young people, in particular certain restrictions such as the closure of schools, colleges and universities and crises relating to the pandemic has been substantial. The foundations for sound mental health are built early in life, the most important of these are children's relationships with parents, caregivers, relatives, teachers, and peers. It is not possible to forecast the effects of widespread disruption to young Londoners lives and their opportunities to learn, develop and relate to others but there is growing concerns for the social, emotional and educational development of young Londoners and the longer-term legacy of the pandemic on this generation.

Young people (18-24 years old) have been more likely to report stress arising from the pandemic than the population as a whole.<sup>28</sup> They were also more likely to report hopelessness, loneliness, not coping well and suicidal thoughts/ feelings. A recent survey conducted by the Prince's Trust found that 50% of 16 to 25 year olds in the U.K. had experienced a decline in their mental health since the beginning of the pandemic, and one in four (26%) reported feeling "unable to cope with life", rising to 40% in young people who were not in education, employment or training.<sup>29</sup>

Across all dimensions of life as young Londoner, analysis shows that the effect is not equal for all young people. For example, those from poorer households are less likely to have adequate space and support to learn remotely and young people with lower incomes have been more likely to lose work.<sup>30</sup> Young people are more likely to be employed in industries most affected by the coronavirus, are more likely to be furloughed and are experiencing increasing levels of unemployment and economic inactivity<sup>31</sup>. Young people from poorer households have been more likely to lose

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabuseduringthec oronaviruscovid19pandemicenglandandwales/november2020

<sup>28</sup> Mental Health Foundation (2020) Coronavirus: Mental Health in the Pandemic:

https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/our-work/research/coronavirus-mental-health-pandemic/

<sup>31</sup> Rebecca Montacute (2020) Implications of the Covid-19 crisis for educational inequality. The Sutton Trust: <u>https://www.suttontrust.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/COVID-19-and-Social-Mobility-1.pdf</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> See: <u>https://www.refuge.org.uk/25-increase-in-calls-to-national-domestic-abuse-helpline-since-lockdown-measures-began/</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Office for National Statistics (2020) Domestic abuse during the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, England and Wales: November 2020:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> The Prince's Trust Tesco Youth Index 2021: https://www.princes-trust.org.uk/about-the-trust/news-views/tesco-youth-index-2021

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> The Health Foundation (2020) Generation COVID-19: Building the case to protect young people's future health: <u>https://www.health.org.uk/publications/long-reads/generation-covid-19</u>

their main source of income, this was twice as likely for young people from minority ethnic backgrounds.<sup>32</sup>

From August to October 2020, 1.65 million people aged 18-24 were economically inactive and 498,000 were unemployed in England.<sup>33</sup> The number of employers offering apprenticeships has fallen by 80%, and three out of five businesses have ceased their offer of apprenticeship, with an increased risk of existing apprentices unable to complete their training programme.<sup>34</sup>

<sup>33</sup> The Office for National Statistics (2020) Employment in the UK: September 2020: <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/bulleti</u> ns/employmentintheuk/september2020

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> The Health Foundation (2020) Generation COVID-19: Building the case to protect young people's future health: <u>https://www.health.org.uk/publications/long-reads/generation-covid-19</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> FE Week, (2020), Revealed: COVID-19 hit to apprenticeship starts [online] Available from: <u>https://feweek.co.uk/2020/04/30/revealed-covid-19-hit-toapprenticeship-starts/</u>

# **Population mental health**

### Resilience

Mental Health Foundation's 'Coronavirus: Mental Health in the Pandemic' study has looked at resilience across the UK during the pandemic and how people are coping.<sup>35</sup> The latest research, published in December 2020, found that:

- Most people (63%) say they are coping well with the stress of the pandemic.
- The most common causes for worry were becoming ill with the virus, being separated from friends and family, being unable to cope with uncertainty, how the mental health of one's own child(ren) will be affected by the pandemic and making one's existing mental health problems worse.
- Of those who have experienced stress due to the pandemic, almost nine out of ten (87%) are using at least one coping strategy.
- People have used a wide range of strategies to cope; these most often included going for a walk, spending time in green spaces, and staying connected with others.
- Some people are resorting to potentially harmful ways of coping, including increased alcohol consumption (22%), substance misuse, and over-eating (36%), putting their mental and physical health at greater risk.

Across the insights captured as part of Thrive LDN's community engagement activities,<sup>36</sup> struggling with uncertainty for the future was an extremely common theme. However, there has also been a definite theme of hope. Communities disproportionately affected by the coronavirus pandemic identified the positive significance of family and support structures as well as the support offered by the wider community and faith groups. Early findings show a clear relationship between resilience and coping with uncertainty, and the power of relationships, collectivising, and social networks. There is a clear need to examine these assets further and consider how they can be reinforced as a means of protecting Londoners' mental health and building strength and resilience in the long-term.

Recent intelligence collected from frontline civil society organisations as part of the London Community Response Survey<sup>37</sup> indicates that regular contact and communication has been the most helpful tool for Londoners in supporting their mental health during the pandemic. This included peer support schemes, telephone check-ins, befriending services and socially distanced gatherings. A number of

Thrive LDN: towards happier, healthier lives

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Mental Health Foundation (2020) Coronavirus: Mental Health in the Pandemic:

https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/our-work/research/coronavirus-mental-health-pandemic/

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Thrive LDN (2020) Thrive Together: A summary of recent experiences and ideas to support the wellbeing and resilience of all Londoners: <u>https://thriveldn.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Thrive-Together-report.pdf</u>
<sup>37</sup> Greater London Authority (2021) London Community Response Survey: https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/london-community-response-survey

groups involved in the survey flagged that these schemes and initiatives were helping people with their mental health but were taking place in a context where statutory services were limited or hard to access.

Group activities and services were also identified as playing an important role in building strength and resilience. Many of the groups polled suggested activities such as social gardening projects, art-based programmes, counselling support services and community religious groups were having a positive impact on mental health.

The findings of this survey, which has been active since April 2020, provide an enlightening insight into the diverse role of groups, services and activities in providing support for vulnerable people across London and reinforcing the need for the community and the voluntary sector to play a fundamental role in responding to Londoners mental health and wellbeing needs, offsetting the negative effects of the pandemic as a result. This is especially poignant considering the survey's most recent findings, which indicate that services relating to mental health and isolation / loneliness are areas in which widespread increases in demand are being felt (73% increase in demand for services related to both).

### Life satisfaction and happiness

The COVID-19 Social Study<sup>38</sup> has been monitoring life satisfaction and happiness measures throughout the pandemic. Results have varied week on week and have continued to drop since September with the introduction of stricter restrictions that aim to control the spread of the virus.

However, as of February 2021, there has been an increase in life satisfaction in the last month seen across all age groups. Life satisfaction remains lower than during the summer, but levels are now similar to June 2020 when lockdown restrictions were being lifted. However, younger adults and women continue to have lower levels of life satisfaction, as are people living alone, those with a mental health condition, those with lower household incomes, people with a long-term physical health condition, and people from ethnic minority backgrounds.

Happiness levels have increased in recent weeks across all age groups, showing similar levels to during first lockdown in 2020. Happiness levels of January/ February 2021 are similar to levels early in the pandemic in the UK. There continue to be differences in reported levels of happiness across demographic groups. Levels of happiness remain lower in adults under the age of 60, people living alone, people with lower household incomes, people with a diagnosed mental or physical health

Thrive LDN: towards happier, healthier lives

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> University College London (2021) Covid-19 Social Study: <u>https://www.covidsocialstudy.org/results</u>

condition, in urban areas, in females, and people from ethnic minority backgrounds.<sup>39</sup>

### Self-reported anxiety and depression

Using the latest available data from the COVID-19 Social Study published in February 2021, there is some indication that the rises recorded in anxiety and depression levels since the end of the summer may be stabilising and anxiety levels may be beginning to decline.

Depression and anxiety remain highest in young adults, women, people with lower household income, people with a long-term physical health condition, people from ethnic minority backgrounds, and people living with children. People with a diagnosed mental illness have consistently been reporting higher levels of symptoms, especially since the latest lockdown was announced.<sup>40</sup>

Data from both cross-sectional ONS studies and bespoke online COVID-19 specific surveys have shown lower levels of subjective wellbeing and higher anxiety in the UK population than those observed in the last quarter of 2019.<sup>41</sup>



Fancourt et al. (2021)

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> University College London (2020) Covid-19 Social Study: <u>https://www.covidsocialstudy.org/results</u>
<sup>40</sup> ONS, 2020, 'Personal and economic well-being in Great Britain: May 2020', London: Office for National Statistics: <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/bulletins/personalandeconomicwellbeingintheuk/may2020</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> ONS, 2020, 'Personal and economic well-being in Great Britain: May 2020', London: Office for National Statistics: <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/bulletins/personalandeconomicwellbeingintheuk/may2020</u>

## Suicide

In London, more than 12 people take their own life each week.<sup>42</sup> Nationally, there has been an increase in suicides in 2018 (the most recent available data) from the previous year. Approximately 75% of those who take their own lives are men, and there has been an increase of suicides amongst those below the age of 25, with a particular increase amongst young women.<sup>43</sup>

There is no evidence to suggest that there is currently a rise in suicides nationally due to COVID-19 from data sources available.<sup>44</sup> However, recent figures from London Ambulance Service show that crews attended an average of 37 suicides, attempted suicides, or suicidal callouts a day compared to an average of 22 a day the year before.<sup>45</sup> It is important to recognise that not all call outs of this nature result in suicide but may relate to an increase in suicidality in this period. In terms of children and young people, there is some limited data by the National Child Mortality Database<sup>46</sup> to suggest about half of suicides after the first lockdown may have been related to disruption caused by the pandemic and lockdown.

Despite the lack of evidence to support an increase in suicides, there is a recognition that due to the extreme challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic, more Londoners will be considered vulnerable to suicide leading to an increased risk of suicides across the region. This risk is related to a number of factors, including self-isolation, health anxiety, economic impacts, and increased stress. One such area, debt, is amongst the biggest predictors of suicide.47 A report by the Samaritans on suicide and self-harm prevention during Coronavirus highlights middle-aged men as especially vulnerable to risk factors for suicide, this group has been disproportionately impacted by rising levels of loneliness and job loss. Samaritans reported callers are most concerned about known risk factors for suicide including losing their jobs, accessing support services and being unable to provide for their families, all of which have been exacerbated by the pandemic.48

Self-harm is also a strong risk factor for suicide which may be affected by the pandemic. Challenges such as school closures, the disruption of CYP support services and loss of other coping mechanisms due to the restrictions are likely to

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Office for National Statistics (2019) Suicides in the UK: 2018 registrations
<u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/suicides-in-the-uk-2018-registrations</u>
<sup>43</sup> Office for National Statistics (2019) Suicides in the UK: 2018 registrations

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/suicides-in-the-uk-2018-registrations

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> University of Manchester (2020) Suicide in England since the COVID-19 pandemic - early figures from realtime surveillance: <u>http://documents.manchester.ac.uk/display.aspx?DocID=51861</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> London Ambulance Service (2020). See: <u>https://www.londonambulance.nhs.uk/2020/10/28/this-weeks-episode-of-ambulance-documentary/</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> National Child Mortality Database (2020) Child Suicide Rates during the COVID-19 Pandemic in England: Real-time Surveillance : <u>https://www.ncmd.info/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/REF253-2020-NCMD-Summary-Report-on-Child-Suicide-July-2020.pdf</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Meltzer, H., Bebbington, P., Brugha, T., Jenkins, R., McManus, S., & Dennis, M. S. (2011). Personal debt and suicidal ideation. Psychological medicine, 41(4), 771-778

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Samaritans (2020) Pushed from pillar to post: <u>https://media.samaritans.org/documents/Samaritans</u> -Pushed from pillar to post web.pdf

have an impact on self-harm among young people (aged 16-24). While the rates of self-harm appear to have remained relatively constant during the pandemic<sup>49</sup>, initial research shows steep declines in the number of people attending their GP or presenting in hospital having self-harmed, raising significant concerns about how young people who self-harm are coping at this time and acuity of need within communities<sup>50</sup>. Further research and insight are needed urgently, as one of more prior episodes of self-harm/attempted suicide is the strongest risk factor for suicide.

Furthermore, there is a recognition that the economic impact of COVID-19 is significant and will continue to have substantial ramifications into the future following the pandemic. Whilst government initiatives have been put in place to support those at risk, some financial impacts will not be fully experienced until after these initiatives have ended.

# **Direct impacts of COVID-19**

### **Recovery from the virus**

The health and wellbeing trajectory for those recovering from and who have survived COVID-19 is not uniform and has serious implications for both physical and mental health. "Long COVID" has been defined as not recovering for several weeks or months following the start of symptoms that were suggestive of COVID-19, whether you were tested or not. Long-term complaints of people recovering from acute COVID-19 include extreme fatigue, muscle weakness, low grade fever, inability to concentrate, memory lapses, changes in mood and sleep difficulties.

The latest evidence from the COVID-19 Symptom Study shows that 1 in 20 people are likely to suffer from COVID-19 symptoms lasting more than 8 weeks.<sup>51</sup> Using a simple proportionate approach, based on a total of 846,900 people within the community population in England who had COVID-19 (reported 5 February 2021) this could suggest that over 42,345 nationally will experience persistent symptoms for weeks and months, implying a significant number of severe cases for Londoners<sup>52</sup>. The adverse effects of medium to long term health conditions on mental health is generally well understood, with individuals with poor health over a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> University College London (2021) Covid-19 Social Study: https://www.covidsocialstudy.org/results

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Carr, M. et al. (2020). 'Impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the frequency of primary care-recorded mental illness and self-harm episodes in the UK: population-based cohort study of 14 million individuals', The Lancet Psychiatry; Hawton, K. et al. (2020). 'Self-harm during the early period of the COVID-19 Pandemic in England: comparative trend analysis of hospital presentations' [pre-print], medRxiv <sup>51</sup> Covid Symptom Study (2021): https://covid.joinzoe.com/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> ONS (2021) Coronavirus (COVID-19) Infection Survey, UK: 5 February 2021 https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/conditionsanddiseases/bulleti ns/coronaviruscovid19infectionsurveypilot/5february2021

longer period of time suffering from significantly lower life satisfaction and higher rates of mental health problems such as depression and anxiety.<sup>53</sup>

Further to this, US analysis has found that COVID-19 survivors have significantly higher rates of psychiatric diagnoses, with 18% developing a mental health issue within 3 months of a COVID-19 diagnosis. Those who contracted COVID-19 were twice as likely as the general population to develop a mood or anxiety disorder for the first time, and older adults with COVID-19 were found to have a 2 to 3 times greater risk of developing dementia. It is worth noting that psychiatric history is a potential risk factor for being diagnosed with COVID-19, independent of known physical risk factors.<sup>54</sup>

# Bereavement

A bereavement from COVID-19 is likely to be a very sudden and challenging kind of bereavement for most people. Provisional data from the ONS shows there have been 18,541 deaths occurring in London between 16 March 2020 and 5 March 2021 that involved COVID-19; this represented 28% of all deaths occurring over this period (65,100 deaths).<sup>55</sup> COVID-19 has and will continue to have a major impact on the individual and societal experience of death, dying, and bereavement. Social isolating measures, the lack of usual support structures and the changes implemented to services including end of life and palliative care has also influenced experiences of grief and mourning for death of all causes during this period.

In the period of March 2020 to January 2021, London had the highest proportion of deaths involving COVID-19 per region (279.5 deaths per 100,000 population).<sup>56</sup> Newham has had the highest overall age-standardised rate nationally, with 455.9 deaths per 100,000 people (718 people), followed by Barking and Dagenham (445.0 deaths per 100,000), Tower Hamlets (410.4 per 100,000) and Redbridge (364.2 per 100,000 population).<sup>57</sup>

https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanpsy/article/PIIS2215-0366(20)30462-4/fulltext

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> The King's Fund (2012) Long term conditions and mental health – the cost of co-morbidities:

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/field/field\_publication\_file/long-term-conditions-mental-health-cost-comorbidities-naylor-feb12.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> The Lancet (2020) Bidirectional associations between COVID-19 and psychiatric disorder: retrospective cohort studies of 62354 COVID-19 cases in the USA:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> ONS (2020) Deaths registered weekly in England and Wales, provisional:

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/deaths registeredweeklyinenglandandwalesprovisional/latest

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> ONS (2021) Deaths involving COVID-19 by local area and socioeconomic deprivation: deaths occurring between March and January 2021:

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/datasets/deaths duetocovid19bylocalareaanddeprivation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> ONS (2021) Deaths involving COVID-19 by local area and socioeconomic deprivation: deaths occurring between March and January 2021:

Research<sup>58</sup> has shown that per COVID-19 death up to 5 people will be bereaved (or feel the close impact of loss) and will potentially require access to bereavement services.

Little information is available on the impact on grief and bereavement as a result of COVID-19 or other infectious disease outbreaks. Previous pandemics appear to cause multiple losses both directly related to death itself and also in terms of disruption to social norms, rituals, and mourning practices. This affects the ability for an individual to connect with the deceased both before and after their death, potentially increasing the risk of complicated grief.

Loss of life by COVID-19 is a challenging kind of bereavement, with family, friends and communities requiring care and support, especially in the first days and weeks following their bereavement. A review of complicated grief confirms the pandemic has increased prevalence of risk factors associated with complicated grief, for example, sudden/unexpected death and low levels of appropriate social support.<sup>59</sup>

# Vaccination

Due to the unprecedented scale and speed of the roll out of the COVID-19 vaccination programme, the impact on population mental health and wellbeing, such as health anxiety or stress is not surprising. Whilst it is necessary to address these issues which may present as a barrier to vaccine uptake, it is important not to medicalise human behaviours and Londoners' responses and comprehension of complex advice and information whilst dealing to the ongoing impact of COVID-19 and restrictions as part of our daily lives.

The evidence base and insights available on perception of and hesitancy around vaccination is rapidly expanding. Findings from the UK Household Longitudinal Study published in January 2020 has shown overall intention to be vaccinated was high (82% likely/very likely). Black and Pakistani/Bangladeshi ethnic groups had greater vaccine hesitancy<sup>60</sup>. Within previous national vaccination programmes in the UK, reported vaccine uptake has been lower in areas with a higher proportion of minority ethnic group populations. There is a significant risk that vaccine uptake for COVID-19 will also be lower among minority ethnic groups.

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/datasets/deaths duetocovid19bylocalareaanddeprivation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> New Study highlights 'exceptional challenges' of bereavement during COVID-19 Pandemic https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/news/view/2480146-new-study-highlights-exceptional-challenges-of-bereavementduring-covid-19-pandemic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Burke L.A., Neimeyer R.A. Prospective risk factors for complicated grief: a review of the empirical literature. In: Stroebe M., Schut H., van den Bout J., editors. Complicated grief: Scientific foundations for health care professionals. Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group; 2013. pp. 145–161

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> MedRxiv (2020) Predictors of COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy in the UK Household Longitudinal Study: <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.12.27.20248899</u>

Insights gathered from community research activities with Toynbee Hall<sup>61</sup> have identified how experiences of structural racism and inequality have compounded mistrust, suspicion and fear within marginalised communities, which may lead to confusion, misinformation and reduced uptake of the vaccine by ethnic minority groups as a consequence. Furthermore, polling commissioned by the Royal Society for Public Health of 2,076 UK adults showed that 57% of respondents from Black, Asian and minority ethnic backgrounds (199 respondents) were likely to accept a COVID-19 vaccine, compared to 79% of White respondents.<sup>62</sup>

Given the clear disparities which exist for Black, Asian and minority ethnic groups, which have thus far experienced higher rates of infection, serious disease, morbidity and mortality, it is clear that culturally competent and tailored communications are required as part of the rollout of the COVID-19 vaccination, with flexible models of delivery to ensure that everything possible is done to promote high uptake in BAME groups and in groups who may experience inequalities in access to, or engagement with, healthcare services. In particularly, it is important to address the issue of trust for Black communities in London, who may have low trust in healthcare organisations and research findings due to historical issues of unethical healthcare research.

Individuals with schizophrenia or bipolar disorder, or any mental illness that causes severe functional impairment are classed as a high priority group, will be offered the vaccine as part of priority group 6. Ahead of the NHS being ready to offer vaccination to this group it is important to consider individual and system level barriers to Londoners with severe mental illness and ensure this vulnerable group are protected and inequalities are not further perpetuated by the pandemic.

Mental health professionals are uniquely skilled to deliver education about the vaccine, being able to adapt for those with communication difficulties and balance factors influencing decision-making. Individualised and clear messaging is vital for this group while enhancing capacity to consent.

Systemic barriers must also be considered such as access, acceptability, awareness of the vaccine. Potential solutions include running vaccine clinics in parallel to mental health services, providing transport to vaccine appointments, embedding vaccination clinics within mental health services and the upskilling of mental health professionals to administer the vaccine and will support Londoners with severe mental illness to receive the vaccine.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> Thrive LDN (2020) Thrive Together: A summary of recent experiences and ideas to support the wellbeing and resilience of all Londoners: <u>https://thriveldn.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Thrive-Together-report.pdf</u> <sup>62</sup> Royal Society for Public Health (2020). See: <u>https://www.rsph.org.uk/about-us/news/new-poll-finds-bame-groups-less-likely-to-want-covid-vaccine.html</u>

# **Digital Exclusion**

The COVID-19 pandemic has placed greater importance on digital connections due to the rapid transition to online services, however connecting and accessing services online is not an option for all Londoners. Digital exclusion can have many causes including an absence of devices, connectivity limitations and inability to afford data, a lack of digital skills and confidence and a lack of close at hand support.

A 2020 Office of National Statistics study showed that 93% of adults in Great Britain used the internet at least weekly, with 89% of adults using the internet daily or almost daily.<sup>63</sup> However, in the same study, 9% of respondents stated they had not accessed the internet in the past month and in a separate study, 16% of respondents said they were unable to use the internet without assistance<sup>64</sup>.

Londoners who are more likely to be digital excluded include older Londoners, asylum seekers, disabled people, low-income young Londoners and low-income families. The public health crisis and rapid digital transformation risks exacerbating existing healthcare inequalities further, as those who lack the skills, means or confidence to use digital services are more likely to become digitally isolated. This gives rise to inequalities in access to opportunities, services, knowledge and goods which can have a detrimental impact on mental health.

As the ONS points out, digital exclusion means that people are missing out on a wide range of advantages. Services are often 'digital by default' and much interaction with public bodies and banks is now online – even more so with the coronavirus restrictions. Regardless of age, disabled people make up a large proportion of internet non-users - 56% in 2018, much higher than the 22% estimated disabled people in the population.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> Office of National Statistics (2020) Home Internet and Social Media Usage: <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/householdcharacteristics/homeinternetandsocialmediausage/bulletins/internetaccesshouseholdsandindividuals/2020</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> Lloyd's Bank (2020) UK Consumer Digital Index 2020: <u>https://www.lloydsbank.com/banking-with-us/whats-happening/consumer-digital-index/key-findings.html</u>

# **Financial impact**

## Overview

It is not possible to forecast the precise economic impact of restrictions with confidence, however, measures to contain COVID-19 have had a major impact on the economy and public finances. The Health Foundation review of trends in income and poverty in recent years<sup>65</sup> has shown that the UK entered the pandemic from a position of stagnant income growth and low levels of financial resilience. Today, as a result of multiple lockdowns, there are signs of increasing economic inequality, with more people on lower personal income reporting reduced income in the household.<sup>66</sup> Furthermore, they are working fewer hours and are less able to save for the future, while fewer people with higher incomes have been impacted on a similar scale financially. When stratifying employment loss and furlough by income level, the future economic consequences of COVID-19 are likely to be worse for those on lower incomes, creating an additional burden in the long-run on the mental health and wellbeing of Londoners which belong to this group.

Despite unprecedented government support, with furlough and increased universal credit schemes being extended until at least September in the latest government budget for the 2021/22 financial year, financial wellbeing has deteriorated drastically. In October 2020, the IHS Markit Households Finance Index<sup>67</sup> reflected the largest fall in overall perceptions of financial wellbeing since the survey began in 2009, with a continued deterioration for UK households recorded in November. The latest available data has shown households are using up more savings as cash availability falls once again, with savings declining at the quickest rate for seven years. Household income from employment remains low, however the year ahead outlook for financial situation is the least pessimistic since March. Overall, this is consistent with UK consumer confidence dropping sharply to levels not seen since the 2008 financial crisis.

Research from the Financial Conduct Authority has shown one in four adults in the UK have been left financially vulnerable as the fallout from COVID-19 drives more people into debt. New research has shown that the removal of the £20-a-week increase to Universal Credit and Working Tax Credit in the coming month would put a further 100,000 Londoners into poverty, this figure includes 30,000 children and would add to the existing 440,000 Londoners who were already experiencing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> Tinson, A (2020) Living in poverty was bad for your health before COVID-19 The Health Foundation: <u>https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-</u>

<sup>07/</sup>Living%20in%20poverty%20was%20bad%20for%20your%20health%20before%20COVID-19.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> Office for National Statistics (ONS) (2021) Personal and economic well-being in Great Britain: January 2021: <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/bulletins/personalandeconomicwellbeingintheuk/january2021</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> IHS (2020) IHS Markit UK Household Finance Index <u>https://www.markiteconomics.com/Public/Home/PressRelease/dc055de9fa2848648574c5708290504a</u>

destitution as of 2019.<sup>68</sup> Overall, COVID-19 has been responsible for reversing the positive trend in financial vulnerability. Between March and October 2020, the number of adults with characteristics of financial vulnerability increased by 3.7 million to 27.7 million.<sup>69</sup> Three in eight adults (38% or 20.0m) have seen their financial situation overall worsen because of Covid-19; 15% (7.7m) have seen it worsen a lot. Groups that have been particularly hard hit include: the self-employed, adults with a household income less than £15,000 per year, those aged 18-54, and BAME adults.

# **Financial resilience**

UK household financial wellbeing declined faster at the end of 2020 than at any time during the five years prior to the COVID-19 pandemic. This has been felt more by young people and the lowest paid; people aged under 30 years and those with household incomes under £10,000 were around 35% and 60%, respectively, more likely to be furloughed than the general population. Between 11 and 15 November 2020, when restrictions were tightened in some areas of the country, 17% of people with a household income less than £10,000 reported that they had been furloughed. In comparison, only 2.7% of people with a household income of more than £40,000 reported this.<sup>70</sup>

Estimates looking across personal and economic wellbeing covering the period from March to December 2020 as part of the Opinions and Lifestyle Survey have indicated that parent's household financial situation have been particularly affected, with a greater proportion of employed parents with children in the home also reported reduced income throughout 2020. At the start of the pandemic, parents in work were more than twice as likely to report reduced income than non-parents in work (31.7% and 15.1% respectively). This decreased over the course of the pandemic, with only 17.1% of parents reporting reduced income in the five days to 20 December 2020, compared with 12% of non-parents reporting this over the same period. Findings from Turn2Us have revealed how families with only one child.<sup>71</sup>

Across the insights captured as part of Thrive LDN's community engagement activities,<sup>72</sup> control over finances has been identified as having a profound impact on

<sup>20</sup> Financial Conduct Authority (2021) Financial Lives 2020 Survey: the impact of coronavirus: https://www.fca.org.uk/publications/research/financial-lives-2020-survey-impact-coronavirus

<sup>70</sup> Office for National Statistics (2021) Personal and economic well-being in Great Britain: January 2021: <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/bulletins/personalandeconomicwellbeingintheuk/january2021</u>

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> Greater London Authority (2021) Londoners will be plunged into poverty without Government support: <u>https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/londoners-will-be-plunged-into-poverty-without-gov</u>
<sup>69</sup> Financial Conduct Authority (2021) Financial Lives 2020 Survey: the impact of coronavirus:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> Turn to Us (2020) How COVID-19 is eroding financial resilience: <u>https://www.turn2us.org.uk/About-Us/News/How-COVID-19-is-eroding-financial-resilience</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> Thrive LDN (2020) Thrive Together: A summary of recent experiences and ideas to support the wellbeing and resilience of all Londoners: <u>https://thriveldn.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Thrive-Together-report.pdf</u>

people's wellbeing. For example, just over half of Pandemic Stories interviewees reported that their income had reduced as a result of the pandemic and the same percentage have "gone without" during the crisis. 85% have increased their spending on phone and internet bills, and the same percentage have increased their spending on food and groceries. Research from the Samaritans has shown concerns about benefits and finances were higher among people with pre-existing mental health conditions than other callers to their helpline.<sup>73</sup>

# Employment and job security

Income and employment are intrinsically linked to health and wellbeing. There is a strong socioeconomic gradient in mental health, with people of lower socioeconomic positions having a higher likelihood of developing and experiencing mental health problems. London's position as a global employment centre, with 6.1 million jobs being based in the capital in 2019 (equating to 20% of all the jobs in England), has a huge role to play in driving Londoners' experiences of mental health and inequality.

Furlough and other government support schemes have protected those who would have otherwise become unemployed, incurring substantial welfare costs as universal credit claims increase and crucially leaving over 1.2 million Londoners (at its peak in May) with large income reductions, increasing poverty, stress and unhealthy behaviours.<sup>74</sup> The latest available data reporting on 30th November has shown that over 644,400 people are currently furloughed in London, with provisional estimates for December indicating a decrease to 641,200. London has consistently had the highest proportion of employments furloughed on a full-time basis.<sup>75</sup>

Recent data from the ONS Labour Force Survey has indicated a large increase in the unemployment rate while the employment rate has continued to fall.<sup>76</sup> The number of redundancies reached a record high in September to November 2020, although the weekly data show it has dropped from the September peak. Although decreasing over the year, total hours worked increased from the low levels in the previous quarter, even with the September to November period covering a time when a number of coronavirus lockdown measures were reintroduced. The vacancies recovery has slowed in October to December 2020 and these are still

- <sup>73</sup> Samaritans (2020) Coronavirus and people with pre-existing mental health conditions: <u>https://www.samaritans.org/ireland/about-samaritans/research-policy/understanding-our-callers-during-covid-19-pandemic/coronavirus-and-people-pre-existing-mental-health-conditions/</u>
- <sup>74</sup> IES (2020) What's going on with the unemployment data? <u>https://www.employment-studies.co.uk/news/what%E2%80%99s-going-unemployment-data</u>

<sup>75</sup> HMRC (2021) Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme statistics: January 2021: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-job-retention-scheme-statistics-january-2021/coronavirus-job-retention-scheme-statistics-january-2021</u>

<sup>76</sup> ONS (2021) Labour market overview: January 2021:

https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/bulleti ns/uklabourmarket/january2021#employment-unemployment-and-economic-inactivity

below the levels seen before the impact of the coronavirus pandemic. In London, the number of permanent and temporary job vacancies fell steeply from December onwards due to the reintroduction of lockdown measures, continuing an 11-month downward trend in employment opportunities.<sup>77</sup>

Early findings from the Institute of Employment indicate that employment losses may be materialising as higher economic inactivity, rather than unemployment.<sup>78</sup> Employees in lower income quintiles are also more likely to have been placed on furlough as part of the Job Retention Scheme: around 28%, compared to 17% in the top quintile.<sup>79</sup> The number of people on the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme rose from 4 million at the end of 2020 to 4.7 million by the end of January 2021.<sup>80</sup> The Resolution Foundation have cautioned that furloughed jobs may be more at risk of disappearing as the government schemes unwind.

The IHS Markit Households Finance Index for November has seen job security perceptions continue to recover from April's low point, with the respective index climbing to a seven-month high during November. The figure did however remain below the long-term average, with households still largely pessimistic about their job security. Incomes from employment have not yet recovered, falling at the quickest rate in seven years.<sup>81</sup>

### Loans and borrowing money

The latest available data from January 2021 has highlighted that by December 2020, nearly 9 million people had to borrow more money than usual, with the proportion borrowing £1,000 or more increasing since June 2020.<sup>82</sup> As the pandemic progressed, increasing proportions of people reported that they would not be able to save for the year ahead. At the end of March 2020, 31.6% of people said they would be unable to save, increasing to 38.4% in mid-December 2020. Groups that found it harder to save included those on incomes below £20,000, self-employed individuals and people living in rented accommodation.

<sup>79</sup> IHS (2020) IHS Markit UK Household Finance Index

https://www.markiteconomics.com/Public/Home/PressRelease/83b2b531a2014a548733beb1214442f5

<sup>77</sup> KPMG AND REC (2021) UK Report on Jobs: London

https://www.markiteconomics.com/Public/Home/PressRelease/b63d54e61e394dbebe475d9610c4f857 <sup>78</sup> The Health Foundation (2020) Analysis of University of Essex: Understanding Data The UK Household Longitudinal Study.

https://www.markiteconomics.com/Public/Home/PressRelease/83b2b531a2014a548733beb1214442f5 <sup>80</sup> Office for Budget Responsibility: Economic and fiscal outlook – March 2021: https://obr.uk/efo/economic-

and-fiscal-outlook-march-2021/ <sup>81</sup> IHS (2020) IHS Markit UK Household Finance Index

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> Office for National Statistics (ONS) (2021) Personal and economic well-being in Great Britain: January 2021: <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/bulletins/personalandeconomicwellbeingintheuk/january2021#savings-borrowing-and-affordability</u>

Thrive LDN: towards happier, healthier lives

The support and benefits implemented to support and protect employees, employers and the economy throughout the COVID-19 pandemic are time-limited to one year. Early evidence of increasing economic inequality and deteriorations in people's financial situations have been noted through measures of financial stress such as the doubling in the number of food parcels distributed by foodbanks and rising food insecurity, the sharp increases in non-payment of bills such as rent and mortgages and 3 million applications for Universal Credit.<sup>83</sup>

The Financial Conduct Authority<sup>84</sup> has also found that between March and October 2020 a fifth (19%) of adults with any credit or loan product (excluding overdrafts) took a credit deferral, rising to half (49%) of those holding high-cost short-term credit such as payday loans or short-term instalment credit. A total of 1.7 million people, nationally accessed debt advice in the same period. Far more may need debt advice: potentially up to the 8.5 million over-indebted in October 2020. This means that 6.8 million people who might benefit from debt advice were not receiving it. Over-indebted adults tell us that the biggest barriers to accessing such services are embarrassment discussing their debts or not wanting to face dealing with the problem (35% gave this reason for not using debt advice) and lack of awareness that free services exist or whom to contact (31%).

# Wellbeing economics

Whilst recent economic forecasts have differed somewhat, they generally point towards a large decline in Gross Domestic Product in 2020. The Bank of England in early November forecast UK GDP growth of -11.00% in 2020 and +7.25% in 2021, with the OBR presenting forecasts of -12.40% in 2020 and +4.0% in 2021 as a base case<sup>85</sup>. The introduction of the most recent lockdown is expected to contribute to a fall in GDP in Q1 of 2021.<sup>86</sup> The reaction of consumers and businesses to the new lockdowns, but also to the rollout of vaccines offering hope that the end of the pandemic is in sight, are also important factors in determining the economy's outlook; even when the economic shock of the pandemic does eventually dissipate, the crisis may result in lasting damage to, and/or structural shifts in, the economy.

The Health Foundation has reported that people living in the UK in 2020 can expect to spend more of their lives in poor health than they could have expected to in 2010. Furthermore, life expectancy improvements, which had been steadily climbing, have

and-fiscal-outlook-march-2021/ <sup>86</sup> House of Commons Briefing Paper No. 8866 (2021) Coronavirus: Economic impact: https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-8866/

Thrive LDN: towards happier, healthier lives

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> Tinson, A (2020) Living in poverty was bad for your health before COVID-19 The Health Foundation <u>https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-</u>

<sup>07/</sup>Living%20in%20poverty%ol20was%20bad%20for%20your%20health%20before%20COVID-19.pdf <sup>84</sup> Financial Conduct Authority (2021) Financial Lives 2020 Survey: the impact of coronavirus:

https://www.fca.org.uk/publications/research/financial-lives-2020-survey-impact-coronavirus <sup>85</sup> Office for Budget Responsibility: Economic and fiscal outlook – March 2021: https://obr.uk/efo/economic-

slowed for the population as a whole and declined for the poorest 10% of women. Health inequalities linked to income level have increased over the same period.<sup>87</sup>

These observations are corroborated by Carnegie UK's Gross Domestic Wellbeing tool<sup>88</sup> which uses data collected and published by the ONS for the Measures of National Wellbeing Dashboard. GDWe in England is declining and was doing so even before the COVID-19 pandemic began. Whilst GDP during the period 2013-2019 appears to have steadily increased, Gross Domestic Wellbeing has slowed and has begun to move in the opposite direction. Whilst it is too early to see the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the GDWe score, the most recent data suggests that bereavement, isolation and loss of income are triggering new mental health conditions or exacerbating existing ones.



#### Growth of GDWe and GDP as a percentage from baseline in 2013/14

#### Carnegie UK (2020)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> The Health Foundation (2020) Using economic development to improve health and reduce health inequalities: <u>https://www.health.org.uk/publications/reports/using-economic-development-to-improve-health-and-reduce-health-inequalities</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> Carnegie UK Trust (2020) Gross Domestic Wellbeing (GDWe): an alternative measure of social progress: <u>https://www.carnegieuktrust.org.uk/publications/gross-domestic-wellbeing-gdwe-an-alternative-measure-of-social-progress/</u>

# Future trends and forecasting

#### National lockdown and roadmap towards easing restrictions

England entered into a national lockdown on 4 January 2021. It remains impossible to produce a roadmap for Londoners' mental health and wellbeing as the national lockdown continues. It is necessary to recognise that the nuances of how uncertainty surrounding COVID-19 and the restrictions in place affect Londoners' mental health and wellbeing in a way that is not necessarily straightforward or always obvious. In some cases, feelings of anxiety and sadness are entirely normal reactions to difficult circumstances, not symptoms of poor mental health and we need to be careful not to over-pathologise the natural process of how people are adapting to and coping with change.

However, as the pandemic evolves and elongates, the effects become more nuanced and the needs of Londoners become more severe and complex requiring a multi-agency approach. In the most recent lockdown, it was noted that rates of anxiety, depression and loneliness hit their peak towards the end of January, and since then have reduced slightly before stabilising at similar levels to those seen in May 2020.<sup>89</sup>

The London response during the first national lockdown was largely rooted in voluntary and community action, with swift and heroic efforts in March and April 2020 resulting in innovation and transformation at a scale and speed never seen before. Anecdotal insights suggest that the wellbeing and resilience of voluntary organisations and community groups has been worn down over time. That, along with changing public mood, may mean that the voluntary and community response is not at the same scale as it was during the first national lockdown. If that is the case, it will impact London's most vulnerable the most.

Furthermore, just 25% of people have reported finding this current lockdown alike to the first lockdown in terms of changes to their lives, with 15% finding it very or completely different. This suggests that this lockdown is having a different impact on people's lives or behaviours than the first lockdown. Seasonal variation of the winter months and crisis fatigue are two factors cited as key aspects affecting people's wellbeing and resilience more markedly in the current lockdown as opposed to during the first lockdown. As part of the COVID-19 Social Study<sup>90</sup>, respondents were asked about how they had been spending their time during the January 2021 lockdown. Volunteering has decreased, with 36% spending less time volunteering while 40% are reporting exercising less than during first lockdown. Activities that have particularly increased include working (34% working more vs just 15% working less), and watching television, streaming films and gaming (19% doing these

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> University College 2021 (2021) COVID-19 Social Study: <u>https://www.covidsocialstudy.org/results</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> University College London (2021) Covid-19 Social Study: <u>https://www.covidsocialstudy.org/results</u>

activities more and just 13% doing them less). These factors combined could likely have an impact on population mental health.

The U.K. government's announcement on 22<sup>nd</sup> February of a 'roadmap' for easing and eventually lifting coronavirus restrictions over the coming weeks and months has overall prompted great optimism amongst the population, representing a return to the eventual normality that has been starkly absent over the past year. However, an easing of the restrictions designed to both physically and financially safeguard U.K. society has been highlighted as a potential cause for concern for many, with 57% of people worried about infection rates increasing once restrictions are lifted, 43% worried that hospitals will become overwhelmed and around one in three people worried about a recession and rising unemployment rates.<sup>91</sup> It is important to recognise that the roadmap out of lockdown will be a slow but entire reversal of the lifestyle and habits we have adopted since the beginning of the pandemic in March 2020, and thus feelings of uneasiness and uncertainty are a normal reaction to these circumstances.

# QCOVID

QCovid is an algorithm which models the first 90 days of the COVID-19 pandemic outbreak in the UK. It calculates an individual's risk of catching COVID and dying, taking into account various risk factors, comparing that risk to that of a similar person with no risk factors, and also showing how their risk ranks against the general population. It also, separately, calculates the risk and ranking of catching COVID and being admitted into hospital. Although the model directly relates to the first 90 days of the UK outbreak, the relative risks and rankings in particular apply to second or subsequent outbreaks of C-19.

NHS Digital have used patient data held centrally to identify people who might be at high risk and generated risk assessment results for these people. People whose results are above the <u>agreed threshold</u> for high risk (clinically extremely vulnerable) of severe illness from coronavirus have been added to the <u>Shielded Patient List</u> (<u>SPL</u>) in England.

# Brexit

In addition to the pandemic, the departure of the UK from the EU on 31 December 2020 is already having a noticeable impact on the mental health and wellbeing of Londoners, particularly for the 1 million EU Londoners directly affected. One in three adults (31%) has reported worrying about Brexit, a rate only slightly lower than the proportion of adults who are worried about becoming seriously ill with COVID-19 (33%). The mental health impact of Brexit is most marked in young adults, with minor levels of stress related to Brexit (42%) exceeding minor stress levels for catching COVID-19 (32%) or becoming seriously ill with the virus (22%).<sup>92</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> University College 2021 (2021) COVID-19 Social Study: <u>https://www.covidsocialstudy.org/results</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup> University College 2021 (2021) COVID-19 Social Study: <u>https://www.covidsocialstudy.org/results</u>

## Impact on London businesses and trade

COVID-19 is having a serious impact on all London business sectors and industries. All sectors have been rapidly adjusting to the changing needs of their people, their customers and suppliers, while navigating the financial and operational challenges of the pandemic. Following six consecutive monthly increases, real gross domestic product (GDP) fell by 2.6% in November 2020.

There are acute concerns for the recovery of the hospitality, tourism and arts sectors within London as restriction measures and the economic effects of the pandemic have adversely affected certain types of business.

# Impact of debt

Looking at just one area of financial hardship, a meta-analysis showed that being in debt increased the risk of mental disorders by threefold.<sup>93</sup> The Financial Conduct Authority estimated that 17% of Londoners were already over-indebted prepandemic, which means that they were struggling to keep up with regular payments. Findings from Turn2Us<sup>94</sup> have shown 34% of people nationally have had to use some form of debt to get by since March 2020. If we assume the number of Londoners over-indebted increases by 17%, then the prevalence of mental disorders due to debt will increase from 28% to 45% (Population attributable fraction; assuming causality). Applying this to a prevalence of 18%, then additional debt could result in 34,000 more working age adults in London suffering from poor mental health.

# Predicting who will get long-COVID

The COVID-19 Symptom Study<sup>95</sup> has been able to build a model to predict the likelihood of developing long-COVID based on age, gender, BMI and the number and combination of symptoms experienced in the first week of illness.

Statistical tests showed that this model was able to identify more than two thirds (69%) of people who went on to get long-COVID (sensitivity) and was 73% effective

- https://eprints.soton.ac.uk/359763/1/ filestore.soton.ac.uk users thr1g10 mydesktop debt%2520meta.pd f
- <sup>94</sup> Turn2us (2020) Weathering the storm: How covid-19 is eroding financial resilience: <u>https://www.turn2us.org.uk/T2UWebsite/media/Documents/Communications%20documents/Weathering-the-storm-How-Covid-19-is-eroding-financial-resilience-Full-Report-Final.pdf</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>93</sup> Richardson et al. (2013) The relationship between personal unsecured debt and mental and physical health: A systematic review and meta-analysis:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> Covid Symptom Study (2020): <u>https://covid.joinzoe.com/</u>

at avoiding false alarms (specificity). This simple model suggests that it should be possible to predict using the app who is more likely to go on to suffer from long-COVID, to help target early interventions and direct research aimed at better understanding and treating this poorly understood phenomenon.

# Forecasting

In England, the Centre for Mental Health<sup>96</sup> has predicted that up to 10 million people (almost 20% of the population) will need either new or additional mental health support as a direct consequence of the crisis. This equates to almost 2 million Londoners who will need support for the mental health in the coming months and years. Based on surge modelling carried out by The Strategy Unit, it is estimated that there will be around 11% more referrals to mental health services every year for the next three years, and this will increase associated costs by £1 billion annually. The expenditure that will be required for mental health services is roughly equivalent to 8% of the NHS's annual budget.<sup>97</sup>

The Centre for Mental Health has devised a toolkit for local areas to calculate a forecast of additional demand for mental health services as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. It has been a collaboration between NHS Trusts, NHS England and The Centre for Mental Health. The precise impact is unknown, and predictions are difficult, but these estimates have been produced to aid further consideration of the specific demographics of communities and to determine the services that may be required.<sup>98</sup>

# Anxiety & depression

- Over 1 million Londoners without pre-existing mental health conditions are predicted to develop moderate to severe anxiety, with 25% requiring access services (293,400 people)
- Over 1.5 million Londoners without pre-existing mental health conditions are predicted to develop moderate to severe depression, with 25% requiring access services (401,400 people)
- Over 1.2 million Londoners with pre-existing mental health conditions are predicted to develop moderate to severe anxiety, with 49.9% requiring access services (605,387 people)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> Centre for Mental Health (2020) Covid-19 and the nation's mental health: October 2020

https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/publications/covid-19-and-nations-mental-health-october-2020 <sup>97</sup> The Strategy Unit (2021) Mental Health Surge Model: https://www.strategyunitwm.nhs.uk/mental-healthsurge-model

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup> Centre for Mental Health (2020) Forecast Modelling Toolkit:

https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/forecast-modelling-toolkit

• Over 1.5 million Londoners with pre-existing mental health conditions are predicted to develop moderate to severe depression, with 61% requiring access services (621,214 people)

# Children & young people

Over 3.5 million Londoners are under the age of 25:

- Approximately 700,000 will experience depression, with 35% requiring access services (242,440 children & young people)
- Approximately 200,000 will experience post-traumatic stress, with 35% requiring access services (69,624 people children & young people)

### Health & social care workers

Of the estimated half a million health and social care workers in London:

- 75% have reported worsening mental health throughout the pandemic, a rate higher than the national average for this group (66%).
- It is estimated therefore that over 150,000 will experience burnout, with 30% requiring access services (38,000 people)
- Over 60,000 will experience post-traumatic stress, with 25% requiring access services (17,250 people)
- Over 200,000 will experience high psychological distress, with 25% requiring access services (56,125 people)

### People recovering from severe COVID

Assuming that 7,000 Londoners are currently experiencing persistent symptoms for weeks and months:

- Over 2,500 Londoners will experience anxiety, with 25% requiring access services (718 people)
- Over 2,000 Londoners will experience depression, with 25% requiring access services (516 people)
- Over 1,600 will experience post-traumatic stress, with 25% requiring access services (403 people)

### Bereavement

Assuming that 92,705 (approx. 18,541 deaths x 5) Londoners are bereaved by COVID-19 or experiencing persistent symptoms for weeks and months:

• 9,085 Londoners will experience prolonged grief disorder, with 25% requiring access services (2,271 people)

- 12,979 Londoners will experience post-traumatic stress disorder, with 25% requiring access services (3,245 people)
- 17,058 will experience depressive symptoms, with 25% requiring access services (4,264 people)

For further detail on forecasting and modelling please contact: helen.daly4@nhs.net

# **Suggested actions**

### **Research and Community Insights**

- Undertake and support community participatory research and engagement to understand more about how COVID-19 has impacted the mental health and wellbeing of Londoners, how they have used their assets and systems to withstand, adapt to and recover from adversity, and what support they need going forward to strengthen their mental health and wellbeing.
- Undertake scenario planning to understand more about how future trends may impact Londoners' mental health and wellbeing

### Communications

- Communicate clear and consistent public mental health messages that: (1) Speak to now; (2) Promote resilience; (3) Promote community / neighbourliness; (4) Promote universal mental health support offers, particularly support available to manage anxiety and (5) Promote that mental health services are still open.
- Utilising the opportunities for mental health signposting within non-mental health services and settings, such as testing clinics and ward discharge.

### Advancing equality

- Develop targeted communications, campaigns and activities to address language, cultural and structural barriers that impede upon Londoners' equitable access to information, advice and support.
- In co-production with target communities, develop and implement more culturally competent public mental health education and prevention campaigns, and public mental health programmes.

### Resilience

- Develop and implement universal and selective resilience promotion programmes, including settings-based approaches, parenting programmes, digital technology programmes and physical activity promotion.
- Provide further free training, development support and grants to voluntary and community sector organisations, particularly micro-organisations, to build the resilience of wider support systems.
- Utilise neighbourhood and community assets to improve social cohesion and social support and develop more safe places for social connection and interaction via. community and peer support.

# Enhanced support

- Improve bereavement referral pathways, being mindful of the different ways individuals might seek support for a bereavement, and develop targeted bereavement support signposting toolkits and campaigns for different vulnerable groups at varied levels of intensity.
- Undertake targeted outreach to people who are unemployed, struggling with debt and/ or at risk of eviction and ensure accessible mental health and suicide prevention support is available.
- Develop targeted mental health and suicide prevention support offers for disproportionately at-risk groups. Namely, those with pre-existing mental health issues, Black, Asian and minority ethnic communities, Deaf and disabled Londoners, Families with children and single parents, LGBTQ+ Londoners, Older Londoners, Women and Young Londoners.

# **Thrive LDN's response**

We will continue to deliver Thrive LDN's programmes and projects and, as much as possible, increase the scale and pace of delivery to support a greater number of Londoners sooner.

#### Coordination

Thrive LDN are supporting the Strategic Coordination Group and associated subgroups to implement mechanisms for embedding mental health and wellbeing into pandemic response structures by conducting mental health and wellbeing impact assessments to identify risks and mitigating actions relevant to each group's remit.

It is expected that work will provide cross cutting support at the regional level and that the work will lay strong foundations for ongoing recovery work (which Thrive LDN are also supporting the development of) and for a mental health in all policies approach.

#### Research, community insights and development

Thrive LDN will continue to work with Public Health England London to undertake research and community engagement projects to understand more about the impact of COVID-19 on Londoners' mental health and wellbeing and to develop mitigating actions.

#### **Communications and campaigns**

Thrive LDN will continue to work with partners to regularly develop and distribute a Public Mental Health Communications Toolkit. In addition, we will continue to develop targeted, culturally competent communications projects to support disproportionately at-risk groups to access mental health information, advice and support.

#### Young Londoners and parents

We will continue to deliver and scale up our Young Londoners' mental health projects, namely Youth MHFA training, to support young people through the latest lockdown. In addition, we have started a new Parental Mental Health programme.

#### **Right to Thrive**

Right to Thrive is our ongoing commitment to celebrate and protect diversity in London, especially for those at higher risk of unfair treatment based on their identity, beliefs or social class. We are currently expanding our Right to Thrive programme to offer additional support, training and development opportunities to grassroots groups and take further action to advance equality.

#### Resilience

Evidence shows a clear relationship between resilience and coping during the pandemic in areas such as anxiety and bereavement. Thrive LDN has mobilised a new Resilience programme across London. This includes a resilience and social connectedness promotion campaign, a new series of open access, clinically led Wellbeing Webinars, an emotional resilience programme and several targeted resilience promotion projects.

### Enhanced support for disproportionately at-risk groups

In response to the rising number of Londoners over-indebted, in October 2020 we started a new partnership programme to develop enhanced mental health and suicide prevention support for those struggling financially. We will take a similar developmental approach to develop enhanced support for other disproportionately at-risk groups.

### **Suicide Prevention**

We will continue our work to develop and promote additional support for those bereaved by suicide, expand the Suicide Prevention Information Sharing Hub and deliver Suicide Prevention Education Training for schools, colleges and universities online.



#### Join the conversation

Follow us on Twitter: <u>@thriveLDN</u> Follow us on Instagram: <u>thriveldn</u> Follow us on Facebook: <u>ThriveLDN</u>

#### Get involved

Find out more: <u>www.thriveldn.co.uk</u> Get in touch: <u>info@thriveldn.co.uk</u>

2222